
UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT

EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN

NORTHERN DIVISION AT BAY CITY

In re: L INDA R. BRALEY, Case No.: 09-20132-dob

Chapter 7

Hon. Daniel Opperman
Debtor.

LINDA R. BRALEY, A.P. Case No.:

Plaintiff,

A NEW HORIZON,

CREDIT COUNSELING SERVICES, INC.

a Florida corporation,

Defendant.

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES UNDER THE CREDIT REPAIR ORGANIZATIONS

ACT FOR DECLARATION AND RECOVERY OF PREFERENTIAL AND

FRAUDULENT TRANSFERS FOR DAMAGES AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF UNDER

THE MICHIGAN CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT

AND ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS

AND JURY DEMAND

A. JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court by 28 U.S.C. ) 1334 because this proceeding arises

under Title 11 of the United States Code, and arises and is related to the above-captioned Chapter

7 case under Title 11, and concerns property of the debtors in that case. This proceeding is a core

proceedingpursuantto28U S C. ) 157. Venue isproperin this Courtpursuantto28U S C. ) 1409.

This action is in the form of a complaint pursuant to F.R.Bkcy.P. 7001.
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B. PARTIES

2. Plai n t i f f , Linda R. Braley, is an individual residing at 1005 Indian Trail, Cheboygan, MI

49721 and is the debtor in the bankruptcy case.

3. Defe ndant, A New Horizon, Credit Counseling Services, Inc., is a corporation organized

under the laws of the State of Florida with a registered agent being Stephen D. Marcus, Financial

Solutions Tower, 2950 Cypress Creek Rd., Ste. 201, Fort Lauderdale, FL 33309 and regularly

conducts business in the State of Michigan.

C. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

4. Defe ndant holds itself out as a business that can assist consumers in specifically reducing

their monthly payments up to 50 percent. It represents that the average consumer completes the debt

management program in five years. It makes a plethora of additional representations to include

paying off debt quickly, dramatically lowering interest rates, "improv[ing] your credit," and

avoiding bankruptcy. (Exhibit 1, Defendant's website pages).

5. In De cember 2007, Plaintiff was insolvent. Plaintiff entered into an "Agreement" with

Defendant for Defendant to "develop, implement, and manage a financial program" on Plaintiff s

behalf. (Exhibit 2, Agreement). Defendant's policy charged 15 percent of the total debt to be

liquidated, at a maximum of $50.00 per month as a fee for its service. Under its debt management

program, Defendant was to manage accounts with five creditors including accounts with Discover

Financial Services, Bank of America, Citizens Bank, and two accounts with Chase.

6. Defe ndant's financial program did not meet Plaintiff s expectations as the balances on those
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accounts did not decrease as quickly as promised and interest rates on those accounts did not drop

as dramatically as it had represented.

7. Because of the remaining balances on those accounts, Plaintiff was forced to seek bankruptcy

protection and filed under Chapter 7 on January 21, 2009.

8. Over the term of the "Agreement" with Defendant, Plaintiff paid Defendant $8,503.00.

9. Defe ndant was an agent for Plaintiff, had a fiduciary duty to Plaintiff, and was an "insider"

as defined by the Bankruptcy Code.

10. Th e Trustee has not attempted to avoid any transfers by Plaintiff to Defendant.

D. STATEMENT OF CLAIMS

CLAIM I: VIOLATION OF CREDIT REPAIR ORGANIZATIONS ACT

11. Pla int iff claims that Defendant violated the Credit Repair Organizations Act(the "Act"),

being 15 U.S.C .) 1679 et seq. As defined at 15 U.S.C. ) 1679a, Defendant is a "credit repair

organization," Plaintiff is a "consumer," and Defendant represented it could fix or repair Plaintiff s

"consumer credit transactions" or "credit."

12. De f endant engaged in prohibited practices as stated at 15 U.S.C. ) 1679b, to include, but not

limited to: 1) making and using untrue or misleading representations of the services it offered to

Plaintiff; and 2) engaging, directly or indirectly, in acts or practices and a course of business that

committed or attempt to commit a fraud or deception upon Plaintiff. In addition, Defendant's

representation of its services, through its agents, website, Agreement, and written materials, was

untrue and misleading.

13. De f endant intended to commit fraud upon the Plaintiff, by i t s use of misleading
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representations, to include claiming the ability to reduce debt, improving credit ratings, and

dramatically lowering interest rates, and to misrepresent the rights and benefits under the

Bankruptcy Code. Defendant made the misrepresentations knowing they were false and knowing

it would not or could not perform as represented.

14. De f endant also violated the Act by:

a. charging money and receiving money and other valuable consideration in advance

of fully performing its services;

b faili ng to provide any disclosures required by 15 U.S.C.) 1679c;

c. by fa i l ing to provide the disclosure as required by 15 U.S.C. ) 1679d (b)(4)

d. by t h e form of the contract which violated 15 U.S.C. ) 1679d.

e. by fa i l ing to provide the Notice of the Right to Cancel, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. )

1679e.

15. Th e Agreement is void ab initio as a matter of law pursuant to 15 U.S.C. ) 1679f.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff request that this Honorable Court enter judgment against

Defendant as she is entitled to the remedies as provided at 15 U.S.C. ) 1679g, which include actual

damages, to include any amount paid to Defendant; to declare the agreement void ab initio; punitive

damages as the Court may impose; and attorney fees and costs. Plaintiff further requests that the

Court grant injunctive relief to compel Defendant to comply with the Act.

CLAIM 2: PREFERENTIAL TRANSFER CONTRARY TO 11 U.S.C. 547

16. Pla int i ff s transfer of $8,503.00 to Defendant was a preferential transfer contrary to 11

U .S.C.) 547 (b). The transfer was made for the benefit of Defendant, who was a creditor under the

Agreement. Additionally, Defendant received the funds after entry of the Agreement and assumption
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of agency, made while Plaintiff was insolvent, and within one year of the bankruptcy filing date.

Defendant received far more than it w ould have under Chapter 7. Moreover, there was no exchange

for new value given to the debtors because, as a matter of law, pursuant to 15 U.S.C.) 1679b,

Defendant had no right to receive any money until i t fu lly performed the duties under the

Agreement, which it did not.

17. De f endant was Plaintiff s agent under a limited durable of attorney and because of its

fiduciary relationship with Plaintiff, it was an insider for the purposes of preferential transfer.

18. De f endant received the transfers from Plaintiff and was an immediate transferee of such

monies. As such, it is liable to return the monies to the bankruptcy estate, pursuant to 11 U.S.C.)

550.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Honorable Court enter judgment against

Defendant, find that all monies paid to the defendant in the one year prior to the filing of the petition

are preferential transfers to be avoided under 11 U.S.C. ) 547, and further enter judgment against

Defendant to pay said judgment to the bankruptcy estate pursuant to 11 U.S.C. ) 550, subject to

Plaintiff s claim of exemptions.

CLAIM 3: FRAUD U LENT TRANSFER CONTRARY TO 11 U.S.C. 548

19. Pu r suant to 11 U.S.C.) 548, Plaintiff s transfers of money to Defendant were fraudulent. The

transfers happened within two years of the bankruptcy filing date, while Plaintiff was insolvent, and

with either with the intent to hinder, delay, or defraud all of Plaintiffs creditors or without

Defendant's providing reasonable equivalent value in exchange for said monies. Defendant received

the benefit of the fraudulently transferred funds and therefore, under 11 U.S.C.) 550, is liable to the
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bankruptcy estate for same.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Honorable Court enter judgment against

Defendant, find that all monies paid to Defendant in the two years prior to the filing of the petition

are preferential transfers to be avoided under 11 U.S.C. ) 548, and further enter judgment against

Defendant to pay said judgment to the bankruptcy estate pursuant to 11 U.S.C. ) 550, subject to

Plaintiff s claim of exemption.

CLAIM 4: RE C O V E RY OF FRAUDULENT OR PREFERENTIAL TRANSFERS

UNDER 11 U.S.C. 550

20. Def endant is the initial transferee of the pre-petition transfers avoidable under 11 U.S.C.

))547 and 548.

21. Def endant received preferential and fraudulent transfers contrary to 11 U.S.C. ))547 and 548

in the amount of $8,503.00.

22. To the extent that the court finds preferential transfers in favor of Defendant can be avoided,

Defendant is liable to Plaintiffs for the value thereof, pursuant to 11 U.S.C. ) 550(a).

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Honorable Court enter judgment against

Defendant in the amount of $8,503.00, plus costs and attorney fees, plus any punitive damages

awarded, and order Defendant to pay said judgment to the bankruptcy estate, subject to Plaintiff s

claim of exemption.

CLAIM 5: VI OLA T I ON OF MICHIGAN CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT

23. The M ichigan Consumer Protection Act("MCPA") at M.C.L. 445.901 et seq. provides for

protections against unfair, unconscionable, or deceptive method acts or practices in the conduct of

trade or commerce. Defendant's "credit counseling service" is a trade or commerce under the

MCPA.
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24. Defendant's acts were unfair, unconscionable, or deceptive acts or methods of conducting

business and contrary to the prohibited practices outlined at M.C.L. 445.903(a)-(kk).

25. Pla i nt if f is entitled to actual or statutory damages plus attorney fees for Defendant's

violations of the MCPA.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Honorable Court enter judgment against

Defendant, statutory or actual damages for each violation of the MCPA, whichever is greater,

together with reasonable attorney fees and costs.

CLAIM 6: DE C L A R A T O RY JU D G M EN T TH A T D EFE ND A N T 'S ACTS

VIOLATE THE MCPA

26. Def endant's acts against Plaintiff violated the MCPA.

27. Defendant's business model and standard operating procedure, to include the representations

on its website(s), the representations made by its employees and agents, its form contract, and

enrollment documents all violate the MCPA.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Honorable Court enter a declaratory judgment

against Defendant that its acts as alleged are a violation of the MPCA, award Plaintiff s reasonable

attorney fees and costs, and grant other relief permitted at law or equity.

CLAIM 7: INJUN C TION ENJOINING DEFENDANTS FROM COMMITTING

VIOLATIONS OF THE MCPA IN MICHIGAN

28. Def endant is engaged in blatant fraud, thievery, and racketeering. It is one fraudulent

operator in a band of fraudulent operators known as the "debt settlement industry." These companies

prey upon financially distressed individuals by representing that they can help these individuals

avoid bankruptcy while reducing their debt by half or more. Naturally, people contact Defendant or

otherwise respond to its marketing strategies. A trained, commissioned salesperson convinces the

09-02072-dob Doc 1 F i led 07/02/09 Entered 07/02/09 18:04:25 Page 7 of 9



victim to grant Defendant a large monthly EFT authorization from the victim's checking account.

That same salesperson encourages victims to fund the account by telling them to stop paying lawful

creditors and deposit money into their special purpose account instead, hence providing additional

monies in the special purpose account that Defendant may withdraw. In return, when and if the

victim saves up enough money above and beyond the exorbitant fee charged by the defendant, the

defendant will "negotiate" with creditors to reduce interest rates and reduce monthly payments by

up to 50 percent. The defendant has their victim sign a "power of attorney" and tells him or her to

provide the power of attorney and a form letter to creditors which advises that all further

correspondence should be directed to the defendant. Defendant knows or should know that many

creditors will not work with it, will ignore the form letters it sends on its clients' behalf, and will in

fact begin collection actions and file lawsuits against the debtors. Ultimately, the working-wage

victims, whom Defendant preys upon, become subject to collection, lawsuit, judgment, garnishment,

and eventually, bankruptcy. The defendant collects their "fee" in advance of any service because

most of their clients never complete the program, which Defendant knows or should know.

Defendant's duty to negotiate under its agreement is illusory because Defendant knows it will never

have to provide any service to most of its victims. Defendant knows it never settles any significant

portion of any debtor's debt, and in fact, its business model allows a large diversion of the debtor' s

income into the coffers of the defendant on the eve of the debtor's bankruptcy.

29. Def endant's very business model is based upon compelling debtors to not pay their lawful

creditors. Defendant's alleged duty to "negotiate" debt settlement (and receive compensation for

doing so) only arises after the debtor breaches all ofhis or her contracts with creditors, i.e., a creditor

will not "settle" a debt until such time as the debtor's breach for non-payment becomes so
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delinquent that it makes economic sense to settle the debt at a discount. Hence, Defendant's right

to receive payment under its agreement is void as against public policy. Defendant should not be

allowed to make money advising consumers to breach contracts, resulting in lawsuits and judgments

against them, and then keeping the distressed debtor's money having provided nothing in return.

All of the foregoing and alleged acts contrary to the MCPA.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Honorable Court enjoin Defendant from

conducting business in the State of Michigan, or other such jurisdictional reach of the Court as

permitted by law, fashion such remedy as required at law and equity, award Plaintiff reasonable

attorney's fees and costs, and grant other such relief as permitted at law or equity.

CLAIM 8: ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS

30. Pla i nt iff is entitled to attorney fees and costs as provided by law including the Credit Repair

Organizations Act, the Michigan Consumer Protection Act, and the United States Bankruptcy Code.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Honorable Court enter judgment against

Defendant for attorney fees and costs as permitted by law.

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all claims as so permitted by law.

July 2, 2009 /s/Todd N e

Todd Nye, P59301

Nye & Associates, P.L.L.C.

Attorney for Debtor

P.O. Box 745

Grayling, MI 49738
989-821-1225 tx.

989-821-1133 fx.

enotice@nyelaw.org
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